
 
 

 

 
 

 

Notice of Meeting 
 

Cabinet 
 
 
Date: 
 

Wednesday 14 April 2021 

Time: 
 

5.30 pm 

Venue: 
 

Being held virtually by Microsoft Teams. The public can listen to a 
live stream here: 
http://www.audiominutes.com/p/player/player.html?userid=tvbc 
 

 
 
For further information or enquiries please contact: 
Sally Prior - 01264 368024 
SPrior@testvalley.gov.uk 
 

Legal and Democratic Service 
Test Valley Borough Council, 

Beech Hurst, Weyhill Road, 
Andover, Hampshire, 

SP10 3AJ 
www.testvalley.gov.uk 

 
 
This is formal notice under The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) 
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012 that part of this 
meeting may be held in private because the agenda and reports for the meeting may 
contain exempt information under Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government 
Act 1972 (as amended) and that the public interest in withholding the information 

outweighs the public interest in disclosing it. 
 
 

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION SCHEME 

If members of the public wish to address the meeting they should notify the 
Legal and Democratic Service at the Council's Beech Hurst office by noon 

on the working day before the meeting. 

 

http://www.audiominutes.com/p/player/player.html?userid=tvbc
http://www.testvalley.gov.uk/


 
 

 
Membership of Cabinet 

 
MEMBER  WARD 
 
Councillor P North (Chairman) Bourne Valley 

Councillor N Adams-King (Vice-Chairman) Blackwater 

Councillor P Bundy Chilworth, Nursling & Rownhams 

Councillor D Drew Harewood 

Councillor M Flood Anna 

Councillor I Jeffrey Mid Test 

Councillor A Johnston Mid Test 

Councillor T Tasker Andover Romans 

 
 

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 14 April 2021



 
 

 
Cabinet 

 
Wednesday 14 April 2021 

 
AGENDA 

 
The order of these items may change as a result of members 

of the public wishing to speak 
 
 
 

1   Apologies 
 

 

2   Public Participation 
 

 

3   Declarations of Interest 
 

 

4   Urgent Items 
 

 

5   Minutes of the meeting held on 10 March 2021 
 

 

6   Recommendations of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee: None 
 

 

7   Release of Developer Contributions Towards Securing 
Access to Home Wood and Kennels Copse 
 

4 - 10 

 Planning 
To consider the release of S106 contribution from the 
development at Park Farm, Stoneham to secure public 
access to Home Wood and Kennels Copse. 

 

 

8   Budget Carry Forwards 
 

11 - 14 

 Finance 
To consider the carry forward of unspent revenue items 
budgeted in 2020/21 into the 2021/22 revenue budget. 
 

 

 

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 14 April 2021



 Release of Developer Contributions Towards Securing 
Access to Home Wood and Kennels Copse 

 
 
Report of the Planning Portfolio Holder 
 
 

Recommended:  

1. That any future developer contribution related to New Forest mitigation 
arising from planning permission granted for residential development at 
Park Farm, Stoneham (Policy COM5) be used to deliver and manage 
public access of the area identified as Home Wood and Kennels Copse 
in Annex B to the report. 

2. That the developer contributions outlined in Recommendation 1 be 
transferred to Eastleigh Borough Council as lead authority for the future 
management. 

 

SUMMARY:  

 Following further discussions with the developer and Eastleigh Borough Council 
it is proposed that the New Forest Mitigation contribution arising from 
development at Park Farm, Stoneham be used to deliver and manage an area of 
woodland, Kennels Copse, as well as Home Wood. This is an additional location 
to that previously agreed by Cabinet.  

 
 
 

1 Introduction  

1.1 In June 2020 the Council agreed to provide financial support, through the use 
of developer contributions, to Eastleigh Borough Council (EBC) to contribute 
to the delivery of Home Wood, an area of the Forest Park allocation.  

1.2 Since that time further discussions between the Council, EBC and the 
developer have identified an opportunity to bring forward further woodland at 
Kennels Copse, adjoining Home Wood. However this woodland is outside the 
Forest Park allocation and differs from that previously presented and agreed 
at Cabinet.  

1.3 This report seeks Cabinet’s approval to allow for the S106 contribution from 
Park Farm, Stoneham to be used to deliver and manage both Home Wood 
and Kennels Copse.  

 

 

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 14 April 2021

Page 4

ITEM 7



2 Background  

2.1 As part of the Revised Local Plan (RLP) five areas of woodland were 
allocated for a Forest Park (Policy LHW3) – see Annex A. This proposal was 
supported by the Council’s Forest Park Implementation Plan (2014). The 
Forest Park is a long standing proposal of sub regional significance. Its value 
has been reaffirmed in the Partnership for South Hampshire’s Green 
Infrastructure Strategy (2017) and the Green Infrastructure Implementation 
Plan (2019). The submitted Eastleigh Local Plan (2018) also identifies the 
principle and benefits of the Forest Park. Its delivery is also seen as a key 
action for the New Forest National Park Partnership Plan. 

2.2 The primary justification for the Forest Park was to provide a location for the 
current and future population of southern Test Valley and adjoining areas to 
access a range of informal recreation activities. The RLP also recognised the 
potential to provide mitigation for the impact on European designated sites 
from new development in south Hampshire.   

2.3 One of the areas allocated for the Forest Park is Home Wood. The wood is 
situated on the south eastern boundary of the Borough. The mixed woodland 
comprises an area of 35 hectares of mixed woodland, bordered by the M3 to 
the north-west. The wood is predominantly within Test Valley. 

2.4 To the east of Home Wood is an area of major residential development within 
the administrative boundary of Eastleigh Borough Council (EBC) for approx. 
1,100 homes, which is under construction. Adjoining this development is a 
small allocation within Test Valley for approximately 50 homes at Park Farm, 
Stoneham (Policy COM5). Planning permission for 63 units on this site was 
granted on 22 March 2021 (ref: 19/02630/FULLS). 

2.5 As part of the delivery of the major residential scheme, EBC has worked with 
the landowner, developer and leaseholder (Forestry England) to secure, 
through a future management plan, the long term release of Home Wood for 
informal recreation and ecological mitigation. EBC has secured developer 
contributions towards delivering public access and the ongoing maintenance 
of Home Wood.  

2.6 In June 2020 Cabinet agreed the release to EBC of £87,814.05 in Section 106 
contributions specifically required to help deliver the Forest Park. This 
element of the decision remains unchanged. 

2.7 Cabinet also agreed that subject to planning permission being granted, the 
developer of the Park Farm site would mitigate its impact on the New Forest 
ecological designation via a financial contribution which would also be 
transferred to EBC to help deliver Home Wood. A financial contribution of 
£80,600 based on the Council’s approved tariff approach for New Forest 
mitigation was proposed.  

2.8 As part of that Cabinet report a plan of Home Wood was included. The 
boundary of Home Wood followed that of the existing Forest Park allocation 
within the RLP. 

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 14 April 2021

Page 5



2.9 Since that decision was made the Council, EBC and the developer have 
identified an opportunity to release further woodland for public recreation and 
mitigation. This area of woodland, Kennels Copse, is identified at annex B. 
The area adjoins the south eastern boundary of Home Wood and is to the 
north of the Park Farm development. Kennels Copse does sit within the 
allocation boundary (policy COM 5) However, it is outside of the defined 
Forest Park (Home Wood) allocation boundary previously presented to 
Cabinet. As such Cabinet’s approval is required to allow the New Forest 
mitigation contribution to be used at this new location as well as Home Wood. 

3 Corporate Objectives and Priorities  

3.1 The Corporate Plan 2019-2023 includes ‘local environment’ as one of its 
priorities. The plan identifies the provision of high quality green infrastructure 
as one area which the Council will invest in. Linked to this is the ‘communities’ 
priority which highlights the importance of the delivery of leisure spaces to 
improve the wellbeing and quality of life of our residents. Securing Home 
Wood and Kennels Copse would help meet these priorities.  

3.2 The Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan identifies the benefits of land 
acquisition to enhancing biodiversity. An element of any future management 
of Home Wood and Kennels Copse will be to balance greater public access 
with protecting and enhancing existing biodiversity. In addition, by securing 
such a facility in a location adjacent to a large community it provides an 
accessible alternative instead of the use of the private car to other areas of 
woodland and open space that may be more ecologically sensitive.  

4 Consultations/Communications  

4.1 Natural England and neighbouring planning authorities have supported the 
principle of the Forest Park and have been keen to see the proposal move 
towards implementation. 

4.2 As previously identified a communication plan would need to be established to 
highlight the use of Home Wood and Kennels Copse and to demonstrate the 
role that both the Council and EBC have had as part of enabling public access 
to these woods and the other environmental benefits. 

5 Options  

5.1 Cabinet have already agreed the principle of releasing the contribution. The 
option to consider is whether to agree that the Park Farm S106 contribution 
can be used to facilitate delivery of Kennels Copse beyond that identified as 
Home Wood in the RLP and the earlier Cabinet report.   

6 Option Appraisal  

6.1 The location of Kennels Copse retains the ability for future residents of the 
Park Farm site and potentially Valley Park residents as well as residents of 
Eastleigh to access for recreation. A wider area of woodland being brought 
forward still delivers on a long term aspiration of the Council to bring forward 
the Forest Park. 

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 14 April 2021

Page 6



 

 

6.2 In terms of funding by reducing the combined scale of the contribution to EBC 
it should not hinder the delivery of access to Home Wood.   

6.3 The additional land would be managed by EBC in conjunction with Forestry 
England’s role with the wider Home Wood management plan. It would not, in 
planning terms, form part of the Forest Park. The Council does not have the 
ability to amend the Forest Park allocation boundaries as defined in the 
Revised Local Plan. This is a matter than can only be achieved via the local 
plan review.  

7 Resource Implications  

7.1 The total contribution arising from the Park Farm development is, subject to 
planning approval, £80,600. This would be released to EBC once it has been 
received by the Council. As the Council will be a party of the future 
management plan responsibility for monitoring and enforcement will be 
shared with EBC. 

8 Legal Implications 

8.1 No legal implications. The developer contributions would be used for the 
purpose for which they were sought.  

9 Equality Issues   

9.1 An EQIA is not needed because the issues covered do not raise any equality 
concerns, therefore a full EQIA has not been carried out.  

10 Other Issues 

10.1 Sustainability and Addressing a Changing Climate  

10.1.1 The delivery of Home Wood and Kennels Copse would help protect 
ecologically sensitive sites by providing an alternative recreation destination. 
Its location close to residential development would allow for it to be accessed 
by more sustainable modes of transport. There would also be opportunity for 
woodland management to improve biodiversity. 

10.2 Wards/Communities Affected 

10.2.1 Home Wood falls within Chilworth parish. However, because of the potential 
attraction of the wood; the geography and administrative boundary of the 
Borough; and the ability to access the wood those communities that will be 
positively affected are predominantly those residing within the administrative 
boundary of Eastleigh Borough. 

 

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 14 April 2021

Page 7



11 Conclusion  

11.1 In June 2020 the Council agreed to provide financial support, through the use 
of developer contributions, to Eastleigh Borough Council to enable the 
delivery of Home Wood. Since that time further discussions between the 
Council, EBC and the developer have identified an opportunity to bring 
forward further woodland at Kennels Copse adjoining Home Wood. However, 
Kennels Copse is outside the Forest Park allocation and differs from that 
previously presented and agreed at Cabinet. The use of the developer 
contribution to bring this area forward compliments the principles of managed 
public access at Home Wood. 

 

Background Papers (Local Government Act 1972 Section 100D) 

Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016) 

PUSH Green Infrastructure Strategy 

PUSH Green infrastructure Implementation Plan 

Forest Park Implementation Framework (2014)  

New Forest SPA Mitigation - Interim Framework 

New Forest Partnership Plan 

Confidentiality  

It is considered that this report does not contain exempt information within the 
meaning of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended, and can 
be made public. 

No of Annexes: 2 File Ref: Pt11.1 

(Portfolio: Planning) Councillor N.Adams-King 

Officer: Graham Smith  Ext: 8141 

Report to: Cabinet Date: 14 April 2021 

 

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 14 April 2021

Page 8



  ANNEX A 
 

Annex A: Forest Park allocations - Location of Home Wood 

 

T
est V

alley B
orough C

ouncil - C
abinet - 14 A

pril 2021

P
age 9



T
est V

alley B
orough C

ouncil - C
abinet - 14 A

pril 2021

P
age 10



 Budget Carry Forwards 

 
 
Report of the Finance Portfolio Holder 
 
 

Recommended:  

That the items shown in the Annex to the report, totalling £39,640, be approved 
for carry forward into the 2021/22 revenue budget. 
 

SUMMARY: 

 Each year there are items included within the original estimates and forecasts 
that Services are unable to spend before the end of the financial year.  

 This report seeks approval to carry forward the more significant of these items 
into the 2021/22 revenue budget. 

 

1 Introduction  

1.1 The forecasts for 2020/21 were approved by Council on 26 February 2021. 

1.2 Due to timing differences and factors beyond the control of Services, some 
items for which budgetary provision was made in the forecasts were not spent 
in the 2020/21 financial year. 

1.3 This report seeks approval to carry forward the more significant of these items 
in to the 2021/22 revenue budget. 

2 Background 

2.1 In order to qualify as a carry forward, an item should meet the following 
criteria. 

 The budget should have been for one-off or specific expenditure in the 
year. 
 

 There should be an appropriate reason for the delay. 
 

 There are no specific sources of funds to meet the expenditure in the next 
financial year. 

2.2 The items contained in the Annex represent those items that are put forward 
for approval. An explanation as to why each of these items is requested to be 
carried forward to 2021/22 is also included. 

 

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 14 April 2021

Page 11

ITEM 8



3 Risk Management  

3.1 An evaluation of the risks associated with the matters in this report indicates 
that further risk assessment is not needed because the changes/issues 
covered do not represent significant risks. 

4 Resource Implications  

4.1 The items recommended to be carried forward were included in the forecasts 
for 2020/21 and have not been spent. This means there will be a positive 
variance on Service estimates in 2020/21, providing no other areas of the 
Service are overspent. 

4.2 The resultant increase in balances at 31 March 2021 will mean sufficient 
funds are available to enable these items to be added to the 2021/22 revenue 
budget. 

4.3 The reason for bringing this report before the final revenue account position is 
known is to let Services know as soon as possible the decision as to whether 
or not the funds will be carried forward. This should prevent further delays in 
committing the expenditure. 

4.4 The latest budget position has been taken into account in preparing these 
carry forward requests. If, following the year end, there is insufficient budget 
to carry forward the amounts requested, a verbal update will be provided at 
the meeting. 

4.5 The recommended amount of £39,640 to be carried forward into the 2021/22 
revenue budget will be equal to the variance on these items in 2020/21. 
Assuming all other items remain on budget in the 2020/21 revenue accounts, 
there will be no additional resource implications 

5 Legal Implications 

5.1 There are no legal implications. 

6 Equality Issues 

6.1 An EQIA screening has been completed in accordance with the Council’s 
EQIA methodology and no potential for unlawful discrimination has been 
identified, therefore a full EQIA has not been carried out. 

7 Other Issues 

7.1 There are no other issues. 

8 Conclusion and reasons for recommendation  

8.1 This report gives the Cabinet the opportunity to consider including unspent 
revenue items from the 2020/21 estimates in the current year’s budget. 

 

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 14 April 2021

Page 12



8.2 The Annex shows a small number of projects that were expected to be 
completed in 2020/21 but are now planned for delivery in 2021/22. The 
budget for these projects is available to carry forward without impacting on 
future service delivery. For this reason the budget carry forwards are 
recommended for approval. 

 

Background Papers (Local Government Act 1972 Section 100D) 

None  

Confidentiality  

It is considered that this report does not contain exempt information within the 
meaning of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended, and can 
be made public. 

No of Annexes: 1 File Ref: N/A 

(Portfolio: Finance) Councillor M.Flood  

Officer: Jenni Carter Ext: 8236 

Report to: Cabinet Date: 14 April 2021 

 

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 14 April 2021

Page 13



ANNEX 1 

Detail Amount Reason for requesting carry forward

£

Community & Leisure

The Lights marketing 3,000 Due to uncertainty over when The Lights will be able to

reopen and customer confidence, it may be necessary to

produce an additional brochure or marketing materials to

boost sales and awareness of the programme in the new

financial year. This carry forward will cover the costs of the

design, printing and postage of an additional brochure

Sports Development 3,570 Due to the pandemic, all sports development activity

stopped. This carry forward will be used for additional activity

at Knightwood Leisure Centre.

Playgrounds 3,320 Work at a number of playground sites was stopped due to

the pandemic and staff who would have completed the works

redeployed to other areas. This carry forward will allow the

works to be completed.

Environmental Service

Litter removal 9,800 Unspent funds from trunk road litter removal to be spent on a

one off removal of chewing gum from Andover Town Centre. 

Training 9,700 Various training courses have not been completed due to

Covid-19. If this amount is not carried forward, it will impact

on the training budget for 2021/22.

Legal & Democratic

Training 2,250 Various training courses have not been completed due to

Covid-19. If this amount is not carried forward, it will impact

on the training budget for 2021/22.

IT

Training 8,000 Various training courses have not been completed due to

Covid-19. If this amount is not carried forward, it will impact

on the training budget for 2021/22.

Total of Carry Forwards 39,640

 UNSPENT REVENUE ESTIMATES FROM 2020/21

TO CARRY FORWARD TO 2021/22

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 14 April 2021

Page 14


	Agenda
	7 Release of developer contributions towards securing access to Home Wood and Kennels Copse
	Text1
	Release of developer contributions towards securing access to Home Wood and Kennels Copse - Annex A
	Release of developer contributions towards securing access to Home Wood and Kennels Copse - Annex B

	8 Budget Carry Forwards
	Text1
	Budget Carry Forwards - Annex 1


